

**INGLEWOOD TRANSIT CONNECTOR JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY
JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT**

THIS JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is made and entered into by and between the CITY OF INGLEWOOD (the “City”), a charter city organized and operating under Article XI of the California Constitution, and the LOS ANGELES COUNTY METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (“Metro”), a county transportation authority. The City and Metro are sometimes referred to in this Agreement individually as a “Member” and collectively as the “Members.” Capitalized terms used in the Recitals and not separately defined in the Recitals have the meanings provided in Section 1.1.

RECITALS

- A.** The Members are public agencies sharing various powers under California law.
- B.** The Members desire to use any power common to them to participate jointly in and/or contract with third parties for the design, construction, financing, operation and maintenance of the proposed approximately 1.6 mile Inglewood Transit Connector Project (the “ITC”), an elevated automated people mover to provide a critically needed direct transit connection between Metro’s network, the soon to be completed regional Crenshaw/LAX Line, and key City housing and employment centers, and sports and entertainment venues wholly within the City.
- C.** Section 9, Article XI of the California Constitution expressly provides broad plenary power to any California city to establish, purchase and operate public works to furnish transportation to its inhabitants.
- D.** As a charter city, the City has constitutional home rule power over municipal affairs such as the ITC, as a concurrent, additional and distinct source of power from those set forth in Article XI, Section 9 of the California Constitution.
- E.** The City’s charter powers include the power to design, build, finance, operate and maintain transportation equipment and facilities such as the ITC, and to join with any other city or cities, district or county to accomplish the same.
- F.** Metro’s powers include the power to design, build, finance, operate and maintain public mass transit guideway projects in Los Angeles County pursuant to the Rapid Transit District Law (“Public Utilities Code [“PUC”] §§ 30000 *et. seq.*, the “RTD Law”) and the County Transportation Commissions Act (PUC §§ 130000 *et. seq.*, the “CTC Act”).
- G.** Consistent with the City’s power to furnish transportation to its inhabitants, the RTD Law provides, at PUC § 30367, that the laws governing rapid transit facilities and services shall not be construed as in any way preventing or restricting any city from exercising any powers that it has under Section 9, Article XI of the California Constitution, including, without limitation, establishing and operation of any point to point lines or system of rapid transit in connection with any other transportation services established and operated by such city.
- H.** The Members have determined that a new joint powers authority (the “Authority”) should be formed as a separate legal entity for the sole purpose of developing, owning, financing, operating and managing the ITC.

- I. By participating as Members in a joint powers authority for such purpose the City and Metro will leverage and combine their respective expertise, resources and capabilities for the benefit of the public traveling to, from and within the City.
- J. The Authority will be governed by a Board of Directors that will establish policies, approve agreements, establish fares and, over time, provide direction to its engaged resources.
- K. Taking into account the Project's unique technology, financing and risk challenges, the City concluded that the most cost effective delivery model that will achieve ITC objectives involves the competitive award to a qualified Design-Build-Finance-Operate & Maintain entity of a contract to design, build, finance, operate and maintain the ITC (the "Project Agreement") pursuant to the City's procurement authority.
- L. The City is currently carrying out ITC planning and development and the Members intend for the City to continue in that role until the Project is at the point at which it is prudent for the Authority to assume such responsibilities, potentially on or about the time of the close of financing for the ITC ("ITC Financial Close") and the notice to proceed under the Project Agreement.
- M. At such point the Authority and City will enter into an agreement ("Transfer Agreement") setting forth the terms and conditions under which the City will transfer such responsibilities to the Authority, including the transfer of the City's rights and obligations under the Project Agreement; the other contracts the City has in place for ITC consultant and advisory services and such other assets and funding commitments the City holds that are essential for the Authority to carry out the transferred ITC responsibilities ("Essential ITC Assets").
- N. From the Effective Date of this Agreement (hereinafter defined) until the ITC Financial Close, the Members desire to establish that the City serve as the Authority's Administrator in order to provide consistent project management, financing, legal and vendor contract support, as well as clerk and Treasurer services, and to work with direct Authority hires as they are engaged.
- O. Upon the formation of the Authority, the City and the Authority will enter into an agreement setting forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which the City will use grant funds dedicated to ITC activities to cover allowable costs of the Authority's operations until the transfer of ITC responsibilities to the Authority upon the effective date of the Transfer Agreement.
- P. During this period the Authority, working with the Administrator, will assemble an executive management team capable of assuming as needed responsibility over Authority functions, utilizing a combination of internal staff, some of whom may be Member-seconded, and consultants and contractors with capabilities in specific areas.
- Q. The Members anticipate that the Authority's Board of Directors may establish advisory committees to assist it in carrying out its functions and implementing the ITC, including community advisory committees and technical advisory committees that may include key venue stakeholders and members of the public who are not members of the Board of Directors.

- R. The City is the Lead Agency under CEQA in connection with the consideration and analysis of the environmental impacts of the ITC Project. The City will prepare, process, and complete environmental clearance for the Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), any other public review and hearing processes and subject to all applicable governmental approvals.
- S. Because the City has not completed a CEQA review, this Agreement does not constitute or evidence an approval by the Members of, or commitment of the Members to, any action for which prior environmental review is required under CEQA. The City, as the CEQA Lead Agency, retains the absolute discretion to make decisions under CEQA, which discretion includes, without limitation (i) deciding not to proceed with the Project (known as the “no build” alternative), and (ii) deciding to approve the Project and/or any of the agreements contemplated in this Agreement (the Potential Actions”). This Agreement is not intended to evidence an approval or commitment by the Members regarding development of the ITC, and the Members do not intend to enter into an agreement or make a commitment to develop the ITC unless and until the City, as the CEQA Lead Agency, and Metro, as a potentially responsible agency, have considered the impacts of the ITC based upon information resulting from the CEQA environmental review process.
- T. Except for limited purposes required by law and specified in this Agreement, no Member will be required to contribute funds, property or services to the Authority, except as may be established by separate written agreement(s) between a Member and the Authority.
- U. Metro’s funding obligations under the Measure R Decennial Transfer Funding Agreement, consistent with South Bay Cities Council of Governments approval and other sources of funds that are subject to Metro budget approvals, are not modified by this Agreement.
- V. In accordance with the foregoing premises, the Members desire, by means of this Agreement, to establish the Authority as a separate public entity for the sole purpose of undertaking, and/or contracting with third parties for, the planning, design, construction, financing, operation, maintenance, and administration of the ITC following the City’s procurement of the Project Agreement and assignment of the Essential Project Assets to the Authority, and the Authority’s acceptance of the Essential Project Assets and assumption of such responsibilities.
- W. Each Member’s respective Governing Body, has determined independently that the public interest requires, and applicable law permits, entering into this Agreement, and has taken all steps required by law or its procedures, to authorize such Member to execute this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the above Recitals and of the mutual promises and agreements contained herein, the Members agree as follows:

**ARTICLE 1
GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 1.1 **Definitions.** Unless the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in this Section 1.1 shall, for the purposes of this Agreement, have the meanings herein specified.

- 1.1.1 **Act** means Articles 1 through 4, Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California (commencing with Section 6500) relating to the joint exercise of powers common to public agencies.
- 1.1.2 **Administrator** means the Member designated by this Agreement to manage and administer the Authority, or the Board of Directors constituted by this Agreement. If the Member designated by this Agreement is unable or unwilling to act as the Administrator, the Board of Directors shall manage and administer the Authority or appoint officers or employees for such purposes.
- 1.1.3 **Agreement** means this Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement.
- 1.1.4 **Annual Budget** means the budget adopted pursuant to Section 7.2.2 of this Agreement.
- 1.1.5 **Authority** means the Inglewood Transit Connector Joint Powers Authority created by this Agreement, as defined in Recital H.
- 1.1.6 **Board** or **Board of Directors** means the Board of Directors referred to in ARTICLE 2 of this Agreement, which is the governing body of the Authority.
- 1.1.7 **Board Member** means a Director.
- 1.1.8 **Bylaws** means bylaws adopted by the Board for governance of the Authority's day-to-day operations. Each Member shall receive a copy of any bylaws developed and adopted under this Section
- 1.1.9 **City** means the City of Inglewood, a California charter city, organized and operating under Article XI of the California Constitution.
- 1.1.10 **CTC Act** has the meaning provided in Recital G.
- 1.1.11 **Director** means a member of the Board appointed pursuant to Section 2.2 of this Agreement.
- 1.1.12 **Effective Date** means the last date on which all parties to this Agreement have executed the Agreement.
- 1.1.13 **Essential ITC Assets** has the meaning provided in Recital M, and will be defined in more particularity and set forth in the Transfer Agreement to be executed concurrent with ITC Project Financial Close, as further described in Recital M.
- 1.1.14 **Fiscal Year** means the period commencing on October 1 of each year and ending on and including the following September 30.
- 1.1.15 **Governing Body** means, for the City, its City Council; for Metro, its Board of Directors; and for any other public agency, the equivalent policy making body that exercises ultimate decision-making authority over such agency.
- 1.1.16 **ITC** means the Inglewood Transit Connector currently planned to be built and operated pursuant to this Agreement, as further described in Recital B.

- 1.1.17 **ITC Financial Close** means the point in time when the City assigns the Project Agreement and other Essential ITC Assets to the Authority and the Authority assumes full responsibility for the ITC, as further described in Recital L.
- 1.1.18 **Member(s)** means the City and Metro, and any other entity that has been added to this Agreement by a subsequent amendment and that has not withdrawn from the Authority.
- 1.1.19 **Metro** means the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority, a California transit district and county transportation commission.
- 1.1.20 **Metro CEO** means the Chief Executive Officer of Metro.
- 1.1.21 **Project Agreement** has the meaning provided in Recital K.
- 1.1.22 **RTD Law** has the meaning provided in Recital F.
- 1.1.23 **Second District Supervisor** means the member of the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors representing the Second District of Los Angeles County.
- 1.1.24 **Start-Up Period** means the period of time from the Effective Date until the ITC Financial Close.
- 1.1.25 **Transfer Agreement** has the meaning provided in Recital M.
- 1.2 **Purpose.** This Agreement is made pursuant to the Act by the Members, each of which is authorized to contract with the other. The purposes of this Agreement are to: (1) create the Inglewood Transit Connector Project Joint Powers Authority; (2) provide for the governance and administration of the Authority; (3) undertake to, and/or contract with third parties to, plan for, finance (including issuance of revenue bonds) and/or obtain funding to, design, construct, own, lease, operate, maintain, repair, reconstruct and replace the ITC; (4) coordinate the development of the ITC and connect it with the regional transit system and housing, business, sports and entertainment venues within the City; (5) perform services related to the ITC, or assume obligations of the Members and non-member Agencies specifically related to the ITC and approved by the Board; (6) define the rights and obligations of the Members in connection with the Authority's purposes; and (7) any other purposes authorized by the Act.
- 1.3 **Inglewood Transit Connector Joint Powers Authority Created as Separate Legal Entity.** Pursuant to Government Code sections 6506 and 6507, there is hereby created a public entity known as the "Inglewood Transit Connector Joint Powers Authority." The Authority shall be a legal public entity separate and apart from the Members and shall administer this Agreement as provided herein.
- 1.4 **Term.** The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue for an initial minimum term of thirty (30) years, which term shall thereafter automatically extend for successive periods of five (5) years each unless and until terminated by the Members as provided in ARTICLE 8 of this Agreement.

1.5 Powers of Authority.

1.5.1 General Powers. The Authority shall exercise, in the manner herein provided, the powers common to the Members, powers otherwise permitted under the Act, and powers necessary to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement. The Authority shall not possess the authority to compel any of the Members to contribute funding or other resources to the ITC. The goal and intent of the Authority is one of voluntary cooperation among the Members for the collective benefit of the Members, other public agencies and the general public that will result from successful completion and operation of the ITC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Member may make contributions of money or assets to the Authority, advance payments of public funds or provide loans to defray the cost of ITC operations or provide operating capital, and contribute personnel, equipment or property to the Authority for the ITC, subject to a separate agreement between the Authority and the Member approved by the Authority's Board of Directors and the Member's Governing Body.

1.5.2 Specific Powers. The Authority is hereby authorized, in its own name, to do all acts necessary, convenient and appropriate for the exercise of the foregoing powers for the purposes set forth in this Agreement and to do any or all of the following:

- (a) Make, enter into and assume contracts, including but not limited to accepting and assuming any and all rights and obligations in the Essential ITC Assets, including the Project Agreement,
- (b) Incur debts, liabilities and obligations, provided that no debt, liability or obligation of the Authority shall be a debt, liability or obligation of any Member except as separately agreed to in writing by a Member,
- (c) Acquire, lease, hold, construct, manage, maintain, sell or otherwise dispose of, in whole or in part, land, facilities, appurtenances and other real and personal property and infrastructure and equipment necessary or convenient for the development and operation of the ITC by appropriate means, including through the exercise of the power of eminent domain, and including by acceptance of Essential ITC Assets from the City or third parties,
- (d) Finance or refinance the acquisition or transfer of transit equipment or transfer federal income tax benefits with respect to any transit equipment by executing agreements, leases, purchase agreements, and equipment trust certificates in the forms customarily used by a private corporation engaged in the transit business to effect purchases of transit equipment, and dispose of the equipment trust certificates by negotiation or public sale upon terms and conditions authorized by the Members,
- (e) Receive contributions and donations of property, funds, services and other forms of assistance from any source,

- (f) Apply for, accept, and receive licenses, and apply for, accept, receive and disburse grants, loans and other aids from any agency of the United States of America, the State of California, or any other public or private institution,
- (g) Sue and be sued in its own name,
- (h) Employ agents and employees,
- (i) Lease real or personal property as lessee and as lessor,
- (j) Receive, collect, invest and disburse moneys,
- (k) Execute and deliver certificates of participation, issue revenue bonds and issue other forms of indebtedness, as provided for and permitted by law,
- (l) Carry out other duties as required to accomplish its purposes and other responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement,
- (m) With Board approval, assign, delegate or contract with a Member or third party to perform any of the duties of the Board, including but not limited to, acting as an administrator for the Authority,
- (n) Consult with and coordinate, ITC planning and development activities with members of the public, including owners and operators of major destinations within the City,
- (o) Approve and implement all marketing, fare structure and operational policies,
- (p) Set fare rates and charge fares for ridership on the completed ITC, and any other improvements developed by the Authority in carrying out its powers in connection with the ITC,
- (q) Enter into and approve agreements with the Members, including the lease or license of necessary rights in ITC related assets from or to Members, to ensure that the ITC maximizes the usefulness of the resources available to the Authority, and maximizes the usefulness of the ITC facilities for transit operations and pedestrian circulation,
- (r) Adopt rules, regulations, policies, bylaws and procedures governing the operation of the Authority,
- (s) Support and oppose legislation related to the Authority or the ITC,
- (t) Exercise any and all powers which are provided for in the Act and in Government Code Section 6584 *et seq.*, including without limitation Government Code Section 6588, as they exist on the Effective Date of this Agreement or may hereafter be amended, and
- (u) Exercise all other powers necessary and proper to carry out fully the purposes of this Agreement.

- 1.5.3 Additional Powers to be Exercised.** In addition to those powers common to each of the Members, the Authority shall have those powers that may be conferred upon it by law and subsequently enacted legislation.
- 1.5.4 Limitation on Powers.** As required by Section 6509 of the Act, the powers of the Authority are subject to the restrictions upon the manner of exercising power possessed by the City and any other restrictions on exercising powers of the Authority that may be adopted by the Board.
- 1.5.5 Obligations of the Authority.** The debts, liabilities and obligations of the Authority shall not be the debts, liabilities and obligations of any Member unless the Member separately agrees in writing to assume any of the debts, liabilities and obligations of the Authority with the approval of such Member's Governing Body, in its sole discretion. In addition, pursuant to the Act, no Director shall be personally liable on any Authority indebtedness, or subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the Authority's obligations.

ARTICLE 2 GOVERNANCE

2.1 Board of Directors.

- 2.1.1 Creation.** The Authority shall be governed by a five-member Board of Directors, which is hereby established and which shall be composed of two representatives from the City, two representatives from Metro, and the Second District Supervisor, as appointed in accordance with Section 2.2.1. The governing board shall be known as the "Board of Directors of the Inglewood Transit Connector Joint Powers Authority." All voting power shall reside in the Board.
- 2.1.2 Modification.** Any change in the size and composition of the Board other than what is described in this ARTICLE 2 shall require an amendment of this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.2.

2.2 Members of the Board of Directors.

2.2.1 Directors and Alternates Appointed.

- (a) The City shall appoint the Mayor and one other member of the City Council to be Directors. Each Director representing City shall appoint an alternate Director.
- (b) The Metro CEO shall appoint two Directors who are Metro senior executive level staff with expertise most valuable for the then applicable stage of development or operation of the ITC. The Chief Executive Officer of Metro shall appoint an alternate Director for each Director representing Metro. The terms served by Directors appointed by Metro shall be determined at the pleasure of the Metro CEO.
- (c) The Second District Supervisor shall be a Director and shall appoint an alternate Director.

- (d) In the absence of the Director, the alternate Directors may vote on matters before the Board, in committees, may chair the Board and committees committee meetings, and may fully participate in discussion and debate during meetings of committees. All Directors and alternates shall be subject to the Board's adopted Conflict of Interest Code.
- (e) Each Member shall determine the term of office for its alternate Directors.

2.2.2 Compensation. Directors and alternate Directors are not entitled to compensation. The Board may authorize reimbursement of expenses directly incurred by Directors or alternate Directors. The Member appointing each Director and alternate may approve the payment of compensation to its appointed Directors and alternates, in which case any such compensation will be solely the responsibility of such Member, and for the avoidance of doubt, shall not be treated as a contribution by such Member to the Authority.

2.3 Powers of the Board. The Board shall have and exercise all the power and authority of the Authority. All Directors are eligible for appointment to one or more committees that the Board may establish pursuant to ARTICLE 2. The Board may in its discretion delegate certain powers to committees but may not delegate the power to amend the Bylaws.

2.3.1 Purposes of the Board. The general purposes of the Board are to:

- (a) Provide structure for administrative and fiscal oversight;
- (b) Retain a Chief Executive Officer to oversee day-to-day operations of the Authority as and when deemed necessary by the Board;
- (c) Identify and pursue funding sources;
- (d) Set policy;
- (e) Maximize utilization of available resources; and
- (f) Oversee all committee activities.

2.3.2 Specific Responsibilities of the Board. The specific responsibilities of the Board shall be as follows:

- (a) Identify ITC needs and requirements;
- (b) Formulate and adopt an annual budget and appropriate funds prior to the commencement of the fiscal year;
- (c) Develop and implement a financing and/or funding plan for ongoing Authority operations and capital improvements, if applicable;
- (d) Retain necessary and sufficient staff and adopt personnel and compensation policies, rules and regulations;
- (e) Implement and administer a workforce policy that promotes a local, sustainable and inclusive workforce;

- (f) Implement and administer policies for procuring contracts necessary to meet operational needs after ITC Financial Close, such as contracts for professional and advisory services, equipment and/or supplies;
- (g) Implement and administer procedures for acquisition of real property, including without limitation, the approval of negotiated right-of-way acquisitions, adoption of Resolutions of Necessity, and approval of settlement agreements, in connection with the exercise of the Authority's power of eminent domain or otherwise;
- (h) Implement and administer rules for the disposal of surplus property;
- (i) Establish standing and ad hoc committees as necessary to ensure that the interests of the Authority and concerns of each Member are represented to ensure effective operational, technical and financial functioning of the Authority;
- (j) Wind up and resolve all obligations of the Authority in the event the Authority is terminated pursuant to ARTICLE 8;
- (k) Address community concerns and concerns of the ITC's customers;
- (l) Conduct and oversee Authority operational audits at appropriate intervals determined by the Board;
- (m) Arrange for an annual independent fiscal audit;
- (n) Adopt such Bylaws, rules and regulations as are necessary or desirable for the Authority to govern its day-to-day operations and to achieve the purposes hereof; provided that nothing in the Bylaws, rules and regulations shall be inconsistent with this Agreement. Each Member shall receive a copy of any Bylaws, rules and regulations adopted under this Section;
- (o) Establish a fare setting mechanism and implement a fare structure for ridership on the completed ITC; and
- (p) Discharge other duties as appropriate and/or required by law, including by delegation of powers that may be delegated lawfully to Members or third parties to carry out on behalf of the Board. However, the Board may not delegate its power to adopt or amend Bylaws.

2.4 Ex Officio Members. The Board may provide in Bylaws adopted pursuant to Section 2.3(n) for ex officio members or alternates to participate in meetings of the Board. Any ex officio member or alternate shall not be entitled to vote, shall not be counted toward a quorum of the Board, and shall serve without compensation from the Authority.

2.5 Start-Up Period. During the Start-Up Period, the City shall continue to act on its own behalf in conducting activities that the City considers necessary and appropriate to achieve ITC Financial Close, including but not limited to completing the environmental review process, conducting community outreach, pursuing public and private financing opportunities, and procuring the Project Agreement. As provided in Section 4.7 of this

Agreement, prior to ITC Financial Close, the City, when acting as the Authority's Administrator, will provide such limited services to the Board as are necessary for the Board to carry out the Authority's purposes during the Start-Up Period.

During the Start-Up Period, the Board shall, without limitation, have the duties to:

- (a) Obtain financing and/or funding necessary to support its Start-Up Period activities and working capital needs;
- (b) Evaluate the need for, acquire and maintain insurance;
- (c) At the appropriate time(s), consider and take action on the execution of agreements with Members for the Members' provision of services and and/or personnel to the JPA;
- (d) At the appropriate time(s), consider and take action on consulting and services agreements related to the Authority's start up and implementation activities, subject to the City advancing payment pursuant to separate agreement between the Authority and City; and
- (e) At the appropriate time(s), consider and take action on the assumption of the City's rights and obligations with respect to the ITC Essential Assets and acceptance of title to or ownership of ITC Essential Assets.

ARTICLE 3 MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

3.1 Meetings.

- (a) All regular meetings of the Board shall be held in the State of California at the principal office of the Authority or such other places in the State as determined by the Board. When authorized by law or executive order, the Board may hold its meetings via teleconferencing during any period in which state or local public health authorities have imposed or recommended social distancing measures.
- (b) The Board shall provide for regular meetings provided that it shall hold at least one regular meeting in each quarter of each year and such further meetings as may be reasonable depending upon the Authority's business needs. The dates upon which and the hour and place at which regular meetings shall be held shall be communicated in a timely manner to each Member.

3.2 Ralph M. Brown Act. All meetings of the Board and its standing committees, including without limitation, regular, adjourned regular, and special meetings, shall be called, noticed, held, and conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act, commencing with Section 54950 of the Government Code.

3.3 Voting. Each Board Member shall have one vote. Except as otherwise provided by law or by this Agreement, all actions of the Board shall be approved on the affirmative vote of a majority of the Members of the Board.

- (a) Matters that may come before the Board that uniquely affect the City, such as matters concerning the exercise of the power of eminent domain to acquire property within the City, the location of stations and connections between the ITC and Metro's transit facilities, closing and rerouting of traffic within the City for the ITC, the definition of ITC Essential Assets and the scope of the title to such ITC Essential Assets that the City will assign to the Authority, and similar matters with significant impact on the legal rights to assets associated with the ITC acquired by the City, shall require the affirmative vote of the Directors representing the City.
- (b) A list of specific matters that shall require the City's affirmative vote is set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

3.4 Quorum. Three Members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, except that less than a quorum may adjourn from time to time.

3.5 Board Action. The Board may act by ordinance, resolution or motion. Unless otherwise provided in the Bylaws, ordinances shall not be required to be introduced and adopted at separate meetings of the Board. The enacting clause of all ordinances shall be, "The Board of Directors of the Inglewood Transit Connector Joint Powers Authority does ordain as follows."

3.6 Minutes. The Secretary of the Authority shall cause minutes of regular, adjourned regular, and special meetings to be kept and shall, as soon as possible after each meeting, cause a copy of the minutes to be forwarded to each Director, each alternate Director, and to each Member.

ARTICLE 4

INTERNAL ORGANIZATION; OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES OF THE AUTHORITY

4.1 Officers and Employees. The officers of the Authority are the Chair, Vice Chair, Chief Executive Officer, Secretary, Treasurer/Controller and such other officers with titles and duties as shall be determined by the Board as and when the Board determines such officers are necessary and appropriate to carry out the Authority's purposes. Any number of offices may be held by the same person, provided that the Chair and Vice Chair shall not also serve as the Treasurer. As provided in Section 6505.5 of the Act, the Board may authorize the Treasurer of one of the Members to serve as the Treasurer, provided that the funds of the Authority are kept in accounts separate from those of that Member.

4.2 Chair. The Mayor of the City shall be the Chair of the Board.

4.3 Vice-Chair. The City's Director of Public Works shall be the Vice Chair of the Board.

4.4 Chief Executive Officer. The Authority shall employ a Chief Executive Officer to carry out the Board's policies, purposes and goals. The Chief Executive Officer shall report directly to the Board and shall:

- (a) Serve as the Board's chief advisor on all policy and operational issues,
- (b) Recommend policies to the Board and then implement policies approved by the Board,

- (c) Prepare an annual budget for approval by the Board, and
- (d) Take all personnel actions, consistent with the policies of the Board and applicable law, with respect to all other employees.

4.5 Secretary. The Authority's Secretary shall be the Administrator's secretary or board clerk, or his or her designee, unless the Board elects to appoint as the Secretary another individual of its own choosing. If the Board does not elect to appoint another individual of its own choosing as the Secretary, the Secretary shall serve at the pleasure of the Administrator and may be removed at any time, with or without cause, in the sole discretion of the Administrator's governing board or management-level employee. The Secretary shall be responsible for the minutes and other records of the proceedings of the Board of Directors and shall perform such other duties as specified by the Administrator pursuant to a written agreement between the Authority and the Administrator. If the Board elects to appoint another individual of its own choosing, the Secretary shall perform such other duties as the Board of Directors specifies.

4.6 Treasurer/Controller. Pursuant to Government Code Sections 6505.5 and 6505.6, the Authority's Treasurer/Controller shall be the City's Assistant Finance Director, unless the Board elects to appoint as the Treasurer Controller another individual of its own choosing. The Treasurer/Controller shall have authority as is delegated to it by the Board. The Treasurer/Controller shall be the depository and have custody of all money of the Authority, from whatever source, and shall have all the duties and obligations set forth in Sections 6505 and 6505.5 of the Government Code. The offices of Treasurer/Controller may be held by separate individuals, or combined and held by one individual as the Board may elect. If the Board does not elect to appoint another individual of its own choosing as the Treasurer/Controller, the Treasurer and Auditor/Controller shall serve at the pleasure of the Administrator and may be removed at any time, with or without cause, in the sole discretion of the Administrator's governing board or management-level employee.

4.7 Other Employees/Agents. The Board shall have the power by resolution to hire employees or appoint or retain such other agents, including officers, loan-out employees or independent contractors, as may be necessary or desirable to carry-out the purposes of this Agreement, pursuant to the terms and conditions adopted by the Board.

4.8 Administrator. Upon ITC Financial Close, the Board shall serve as the Administrator.

During the Start-Up Period, the City shall serve as the Authority's Administrator, unless and until the Board elects to administer this Agreement on its own behalf or appoints officers or employees to do so. As Administrator, the City shall perform services reasonably necessary for the management and administration of the Authority during the Start-Up Period, including but not limited to:

- (a) Coordinating and preparing for Board meetings,
- (b) Identifying key City staff and consultants who will provide services to the Board and the Authority on behalf of the City as the Administrator, including staff who shall serve as Secretary and Treasurer in accordance with the directions given by the Board,

- (c) Being responsible for the appointment, employment, management and termination of any personnel, contractors or consultants providing services to the Authority including, but not limited to, contractors and consultants necessary to prepare the Authority to assume its responsibilities with respect to delivery and operation of the ITC following the ITC Financial Close,
- (d) Providing legal services to the Authority,
- (e) Implementing the policies, decisions and directions of the Board, and
- (f) Coordinating and conferring with the Members' technical staff.

For purposes of clarification, the agreements and employment relationships referenced in clause (c), above, are agreements and employment relationships directly between the Authority and the agreement counter-parties, or employees. For purposes of its role as developer of the ITC prior to ITC Financial Close, the City shall enter into those agreements and employment relationships as it deems necessary on its own behalf, and assignment to and assumption by the JPA of such agreements and employment relationships shall be subject to both the City's and the JPA's approval of the transfer agreement effecting such assignment and assumption. The terms and conditions pursuant to which the Authority shall compensate the City for performance of services as Administrator shall be set forth in a separate services agreement between the Authority and the City. In performing services as Administrator, the City shall be an independent contractor and not an employee of the Authority. No employee or agent of the City shall become an employee of the Authority by virtue of performing interim administrative services. The City employees or agents assigned to provide services shall remain under the exclusive control of the City.

The Authority shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City and its officials, officers, employees, contractors, agents and authorized volunteers from any and all claims, demands, damages, liabilities, fines, expenses, and related costs and fees, including attorney's fees, arising from or related to the City's performance of services as the Administrator.

If the City is still serving as the Administrator when ITC Financial Close occurs, then upon the ITC Financial Close, the City shall cease to be the Administrator, and the Board shall be the Administrator.

4.9 Official Bond. Pursuant to Government Code section 6505.1, the public officer, officers or persons who have charge of, handle or have access to any property of the Authority shall be so designated and empowered by the Board. Each such officer or person shall file an official bond with the Board in an amount to be fixed by the Board. The premiums on any such bonds attributable to the coverage required herein shall be appropriate expenses of the Authority.

4.10 Status of Officers and Employees. In accordance with Government Code section 6513, all of the privileges and immunities from liability, exemption from laws, ordinances and rules, all pension, relief, disability, workers compensation and other benefits which apply to the activities of officers, agents or employees of any of the Members when performing their respective functions shall apply to them to the same degree and extent while

engaged in the performance of any of the functions or other duties under this Agreement. None of the officers, agents or employees appointed by the Board shall be deemed, by reason of their employment by the Board, to be employed by any of the Members, or by reason of their employment by the Board, to be subject to any requirements of such Members.

ARTICLE 5 COMMITTEES

- 5.1 Committees.** The Board of Directors, by a majority vote, may form committees for any purpose that the Board deems appropriate to assist the Board in carrying out its functions and implementing the provisions of this Agreement and the ITC. Such vote shall designate the criteria to qualify for appointment on said committees, the method for appointing committee members, the scope of the duties and responsibility of the committee, whether the committee is a standing or ad hoc committee, rules, regulations, policies, or procedures to govern such committees and whether members shall be compensated or entitled to reimbursement for expenses, and such other matters as the Board may deem appropriate. Committees, unless otherwise provided by law, this Agreement, the Bylaws or direction of the Board, may be composed of Directors, alternate Directors and non-Directors.
- 5.2 Community Advisory Committee.** The Board may establish a Community Advisory Committee comprised of non-Board members, with the primary purpose of advising the Board and providing a venue for ongoing citizen support and engagement in the strategic direction, goals and programs of the Authority. The Community Advisory Committee, if established, shall be advisory only, and shall not have decision-making authority, nor receive any delegation of authority from the Board. Each Member may nominate a committee member(s) and the Board shall determine the final selection of committee members.
- 5.3 Meetings of Advisory Committees.** All meetings of the standard committees and committees consisting of a quorum of the Board of Directors shall be held in accordance with the Brown Act. For the purposes of convening meetings and conducting business, unless otherwise provided in the Bylaws, a majority of the members of the committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, except that less than a quorum or the secretary of each committee may adjourn meetings from time to time. As soon as practicable, but no later than the time of posting, the Secretary of the committee shall provide notice and agenda to each Member, Director(s) and alternate Director(s).
- 5.4 Officers of Advisory Committees.** Unless otherwise determined by the Board, each committee shall choose its officers, comprised of a Chair, a Vice Chair, and a Secretary.

ARTICLE 6 PROJECT COORDINATION

- 6.1 Coordination with the Members.** The Members may convene their respective staffs to review issues associated with the Project and the other purposes of this Agreement from time to time. If authorized by a written agreement between the Authority and a public agency, which is not a Member, or authorized by the Board, a non-Member may designate a representative to review such issues with staff of the Members as appropriate.

ARTICLE 7 FINANCES

7.1 Fiscal Year. The Fiscal Year of the Authority shall be as defined in Section 1.1 of this Agreement.

7.2 Annual Budget.

7.2.1 Interim Budget. The Board shall, within 120 days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, approve an interim budget, which shall constitute the operating budget until the Annual Budget is adopted. The Board may revise the interim budget from time to time as may be reasonably necessary to address contingencies and unexpected expenses

7.2.2 Annual Budget. Annually, prior to [July 1] of each year, the Board shall adopt a budget for all expenditures to be made by the Authority during the upcoming Fiscal Year. The Annual Budget shall reflect the Board's budget and expenditure plan based on annual projections of funding sources and uses for the upcoming Fiscal Year. The budget shall include separate components for administrative, operations and capital costs anticipated to be incurred by the Authority during the fiscal year. Each Annual Budget shall be adopted and shall be effective on the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors.

7.2.3 Contingencies and Unexpected Expenses. The Board may revise the interim budget and annual budget from time to time as reasonably necessary to address contingencies and unexpected expenses.

7.3 Funds, Accounts and Reports. There shall be strict accountability of all funds and reporting of all Authority receipts and disbursements.

7.3.1 Sources of Funds. The Authority shall arrange for the receipt of funds from any sources available to the Authority that are necessary and appropriate for the conduct of the Authority's activities. Funds may be received directly, or through pledges of funds from other public agencies. Members shall not be required to make any financial contributions or payments to the Authority, or to contribute to the cost of operating and maintaining the ITC, and the Authority shall have no right to require such a contribution or payment unless expressly set forth herein, such as provided in Section 8.6 with respect to retirement benefits upon termination, or except as otherwise required by law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Member may volunteer to provide, or negotiate terms with the Authority to provide the following:

- (a) contributions from its treasury for the purposes set forth in this Agreement;
- (b) advances of public funds to defray the cost of the purposes of the Agreement and Authority, such advances to be repaid as provided by written agreement; or
- (c) its personnel, equipment or property in lieu of other contributions or advances.

Any agreement with the Authority to provide any of the above-referenced contributions or payments shall require a vote of the Board. No Member shall be required, by or for the benefit of the Authority, to adopt any local tax, assessment, fee or charge under any circumstances.

- 7.3.2 Accounts.** Revenues or funds received or made available to the Authority from any source whatsoever, shall be deposited into separate accounts established by the Authority in its own name, and not commingled with funds of any Member or any other person or entity. The Authority may expend its funds in any legal manner, subject to such reservations as may be imposed by the Authority from time to time.
- 7.3.3 Reports.** The Treasurer shall, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, give a complete written report of all financial activities for such Fiscal Year to the Board and to each Member. The Authority's books and records shall be open to inspection at all reasonable times by representatives of each Member. The Treasurer shall prepare and provide such additional reports, including audited financial statements and ongoing disclosure reports, as are required by separate agreements entered into by the Authority. Annual financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.
- 7.4 Payments and Advances.** No expenditures in excess of those budgeted and appropriated shall be made unless otherwise approved by the Authority's Board.
- 7.5 Audit.** In accordance with Sections 6505 through 6505.6 of the Government Code, the Treasurer shall cause an annual audit of the accounts and records of the Authority to be made and reported. The audit shall be conducted by an independent certified public accountant or public accountant. The audit shall conform to generally accepted auditing standards. Such report shall be filed within twelve (12) months of the end of the Fiscal Year under examination.
- 7.6 Procurement Methods.** The Board may adopt, implement and administer such policies relating to procurement of services, equipment, supplies and other materials needed to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement.
- 7.7 Cost Reimbursement.** The Authority shall, to the extent allowed by law or outside funding sources, reimburse each Member for its individual contributions toward technical, engineering, environmental, financial, permitted, and other pre-procurement activities associated with the ITC prior to execution of the Project Agreement.
- 7.8 Agreement to Transfer and Accept ITC.** Upon the ITC Financial Close, the City will transfer and assign to the Authority, and the Authority will accept and assume from the City, the ITC Essential Assets, including but not limited to the Project Agreement and all grant and funding agreements, consultant and advisory services contracts, and all other agreements and real and personal property that the City has determined and the Authority agrees are material to the Authority's continued planning, design, construction, financing, owing, leasing, operation, maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of the ITC. Upon such assignment and assumption, the City shall have no further rights, obligations or liability arising under any of the foregoing agreements.

- 7.9 **Excess Operating Revenues.** If the ITC's fare box revenues exceed the Authority's operating and maintenance expenses in a Fiscal Year, all reserve accounts are fully funded, and all obligations to persons having priority for distributions or allocations of cash from operation of the ITC have been satisfied, the Authority may use the excess revenues for purposes relating to and supporting City's facilitation of transportation-related services within the City.

ARTICLE 8 AMENDMENT/TERMINATION

- 8.1 **Duration and Termination.** This Agreement shall become effective as of the Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect until terminated by the mutual written consent of all Members. If there are only two Members and one Member intends to withdraw, the other Member's written consent to terminate this Agreement shall not be unreasonably conditioned or delayed, provided that the Member wishing to terminate its membership in the Authority shall give at least eighteen months' written notice to the Authority. Notwithstanding the prior provisions of this Section 8.1, this Agreement and the Authority shall continue to exist for the purpose of disposing of all claims, distribution of assets, and all other functions necessary to conclude the affairs of the Authority.
- 8.2 **Amendment.** This Agreement may be amended at any time by the written consent of the Governing Body of each Party hereto.
- 8.3 **Successor Statutes.** All statutes cited herein shall be deemed to include future amendments and/or successor statutes.
- 8.4 **Admission to Membership.** Any public agency that has not executed this Agreement on or before the Effective Date may be admitted to membership upon the unanimous approval of the Directors appointed by the City and Metro, payment of costs of preparation of any necessary documents, and execution by such public agency and all Members of an amendment to this Agreement providing that such public agency shall be a party to the Agreement and added as a Member of the Authority.
- 8.5 **Withdrawal.** Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any Member may withdraw from the Authority by providing the Authority with at least 18 months' written notice of its intent to withdraw. A withdrawal from the Authority constitutes a withdrawal of that Member's representatives from the Board of Directors. If at any time there are only two Members, any desired withdrawal shall be subject to the termination provisions of this Agreement.
- 8.6 **Effect of Withdrawal.** Subject to Section 9.2 hereof, the withdrawal of a Member shall not terminate its responsibility to contribute its share, if any, of any obligation incurred by the Authority through the date of withdrawal, or to perform any other obligation arising from a separate agreement or other legally binding obligation created through the date of withdrawal, including amounts determined by the Board for future obligations arising from retirement benefits for past and existing employees of the Authority, if any.
- 8.7 **Purchase Option.**
- 8.7.1 Upon termination of this Agreement, but prior to disbursement of any assets of the Authority, the City shall have the option, exercisable in its discretion, to purchase

the ITC, in whole or in part, for the lesser of fair market value or the outstanding financial obligations of the terminating or withdrawing Member(s) at the time of the exercise of the option, by providing the Authority and other Members with one hundred twenty (120) days' notice in advance of termination. As soon as practicable after receipt of the City's notice, the Authority shall notify the City of the Authority's reasonable determination of the amount of the purchase price for the ITC assets, including a detailed calculation of such fair market value, which valuation shall be based upon commonly accepted appraisal methodologies used by professional financial advisors to value P3 transportation infrastructure projects in similar urban areas in the United States. Upon mutual agreement on a purchase price determined under this section and payment thereof, the Authority will sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the City all of its right, title and interest in the purchased assets. The City shall receive a credit against the purchase price for the time-adjusted value of the assets that the City contributed to the Authority for ITC purposes, and for the reasonable cost of all obligations to be assumed by the City in connection with the Authority's assignment of the ITC to the City.

8.7.2 Subject to applicable law, the City shall also have the option, exercisable in its discretion, to purchase any ITC Assets that the Board deems surplus and unnecessary for the ITC. Such purchase option for surplus property shall be on the same terms and conditions set forth in Section 8.7.1, provided that the City shall give the Authority written notice of the City's intent to exercise such purchase option within no more than forty- five (45) days following the Board's determination to dispose of such excess property.

8.8 **Disbursement.** Upon termination of this Agreement and after payment of all liabilities, costs, expenses and charges validly incurred under this Agreement, and resolution of any purchase option exercised by the City, all remaining assets of the Authority shall be disbursed among the Members, including any Members that previously withdrew from the Authority. Real and personal property assets shall first be returned to the Member who contributed them. Remaining assets shall be divided pro rata among the Members in accordance with and proportionate to their respective contributions (including payments for services received and the fair market value of any real or personal property at the time when the Member transferred such property to the Authority) made during the term of this Agreement, if feasible to do so. Remaining assets may be sold to the highest bidder, in which case each of the Members shall have a right of first refusal. The Board may, in its discretion, and only by unanimous vote of the then-current Directors immediately prior to termination of this Agreement, distribute assets without regard to a Member's respective contributions.

ARTICLE 9 SPECIAL PROVISIONS

9.1 **Insurance.** The Authority shall maintain types and levels of insurance coverage for the Authority as the Board determines to be reasonably adequate. The Members shall be named additional insureds on the Authority's general commercial liability insurance and automobile liability insurance policies, and such other policies with respect to which such coverage is available.

9.2 **Liability of Authority, Board, Officers, Employees.** Pursuant to Government Code Section 6508.1, with the exception of retirement liabilities of the Authority, the debts,

liabilities, and obligations of the Authority, whether they sound in tort, contract or otherwise, shall not be the debts, liabilities and obligations of any of the Members or any of their respective members, officers, directors, employees or agents. Without limiting the Authority's commitment to ensure that the ITC operates with the utmost care and diligence in transporting passengers, The Authority, its Members, Directors, officers, employees, staff and agents shall use ordinary care and reasonable diligence in the exercise of their powers and in the performance of their duties pursuant to this Agreement. They shall not be liable for any mistakes of judgment or any other action made, taken or omitted by them in good faith, nor for any action with reasonable care, nor for loss incurred through investment of joint powers agency funds, or failure to invest. No Member, Director, alternate Director, officer or employee shall be responsible for any action taken or omitted by any other director, officer, employee, staff member or agent. No Member, its directors, council members, officers, or employees, or any of Authority's Directors, officers, employees, staff members or agents shall be responsible for any action taken or omitted by any other Member, or its directors, officers, council members, employees, staff members or agents. The Authority, its Members, Directors, officers, and employees shall be entitled to all immunities provided by law, for actions taken in good faith, without malice or fraud.

9.3 Retirement System. The Authority shall not provide retirement benefits for its Directors, alternate Directors, officers, or employees without the written consent of each Member, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

9.4 Indemnity. The Authority shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Directors, alternate Directors, the individual Members, and their members, officers, directors, employees and agents from and against any and all liability, loss, damages, expenses, costs (including, without limitations, costs and fees of litigation or arbitration) of every nature, arising out of any act or omission of the Authority related to this Agreement, except such loss or damage which was caused by the willful misconduct of the Board of Directors, any individual Member, or their members, officers, directors, employees and agents. The Authority's duty to indemnify each Member pursuant to this Agreement shall survive that Member's withdrawal from the Agency.

9.5 Conflict of Interest Code. The Authority shall adopt, by resolution, a conflict of interest code as required by law.

ARTICLE 10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

10.1 Dispute Resolution. The Members and the Authority shall make reasonable efforts to settle all disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement. Before exercising any remedy provided by law, a Member or the Members and the Authority shall engage in nonbinding mediation in the manner agreed upon by the Member or Members and the Authority. The Parties agree that each Party may specifically enforce this section. In the event that nonbinding mediation is not initiated or does not result in the settlement of a dispute within 60 days after the demand for mediation is made, any Member and the Authority may pursue any remedies provided by law.

10.2 Severability. If any section, clause or phrase of this Agreement or the application thereof to any Party or any other person or circumstance is for any reason held to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it shall be deemed severable, and the remainder of the

Agreement or the application of such provisions to any other Party or to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. Each Party hereby declares that it would have entered into this Agreement, and each subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof, irrespective that one or more sections, subsection sentences, clauses or phrases or the application thereof might be held invalid.

- 10.3** **Notices.** Notices required or permitted hereunder shall be sufficiently given if made in writing and delivered either personally or by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid to the respective Members, as follows:

CITY OF INGLEWOOD:
City Clerk
One Manchester Blvd.
Inglewood, CA 90301

With copy to:
City of Inglewood City Attorney
Suite 860
One Manchester Blvd.
Inglewood, CA 90301

LOS ANGELES COUNTY METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY:

Metro Chief Executive Officer
One Gateway Plaza, 25th Fl.
Los Angeles, CA 90012

With copy to:

Metro General Counsel
One Gateway Plaza, 24th Fl.
Los Angeles, CA 90012

The Members may from time to time change the address to which notice may be provided by providing written notice of the change to the other Members.

- 10.4** **Consent.** Whenever in this Agreement or in any amendment thereto, consent or approval is required, the same shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 10.5** **Other Agreements Not Prohibited.** Other agreements by and between Members as other than as parties to this Agreement or any other entity are neither prohibited nor modified in any manner by execution of this Agreement.
- 10.6** **Section Headings.** The section headings herein are for convenience of the Members only, and shall not be deemed to govern, limit, modify or in any manner affect the scope, meaning or intent of the provisions or language of this Agreement.

- 10.7 **Laws of California.** This Agreement is made in the State of California, under the Constitution and laws of such State, and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of such State.
- 10.8 **Construction of Language.** It is the intention of the Members that if any provision of this Agreement is capable of two constructions, one of which would render the provision void and the other of which would render the provision valid, then the provision shall have the meaning that renders it valid.
- 10.9 **Cooperation.** The Members recognize the necessity and hereby agree to cooperate with each other in carrying out the purposes of this Agreement.
- 10.10 **Successors.** This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the successors of the Members.
- 10.11 **Enforcement.** The Authority is hereby authorized to take any and all legal or equitable actions, including but not limited to seeking injunctive relief and specific performance, necessary or permitted by law to enforce this Agreement.
- 10.12 **Integration.** This Agreement constitutes the full and complete Agreement of the Members.
- 10.13 **Counterparts.** This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE(S)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Members have caused this Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement to be executed and attested by their proper officers thereunto duly authorized on the day and year set forth below, making the same effective on the date signed by the last of all Parties hereto.

CITY OF INGLEWOOD

By: _____
James T. Butts, Jr., Mayor

Date: _____

ATTEST:

By: _____
Aisha L. Thompson, City Clerk

APPROVAL AS TO FORM:

KENNETH R. CAMPOS
City Attorney

LOS ANGELES COUNTY METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

By: _____
Phillip A. Washington, Chief Executive Officer

Date: _____

APPROVAL AS TO FORM:

RODRIGO CASTRO-SILVA
County Counsel

Ronald W. Stamm
Principal Deputy County Counsel

EXHIBIT A

MATTERS REQUIRING AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF DIRECTORS APPOINTED BY CITY

Board action on the following matters shall require the unanimous affirmative vote of City-appointed Directors:

1. Actions that would affect the ITC Project in a manner requiring supplemental environmental analysis, entitlements, approvals or discretionary, non-ministerial permits.
2. Actions that would create or allow use of any Essential ITC Project Assets that City transferred to the JPA for any purpose other than those strictly necessary for construction, operation and maintenance of the ITC Project.
3. Actions that would result in the disposition to any person other than City of any ITC Essential Assets.
4. Actions that would require the permanent or temporary closure of any lanes of traffic or pedestrian or bike pathways in the City
5. Actions that would require variances from noise and sound regulations applicable to construction and operation of equipment in the City.
6. Actions that directly would result in the termination of any transportation service currently available within the City.
7. Actions that would eliminate or reduce previously approved and scheduled service of the ITC Project to any location within the City (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes approval of change orders that authorize departures from performance-based criteria required under the Project Agreement).
8. Actions that would initiate or authorize settlement of any litigation in a manner that would affect any of the actions included on this Exhibit A.
9. Actions with respect to any matter that directly would result in a change in the physical character of the area of the City immediately adjacent to the ITC Project right of way.
10. Actions that would result in early termination of any contract that City assigned to JPA.
11. Action to terminate the ITC Project.
12. Action to initiate the acquisition of any additional property rights for the ITC Project (whether on a voluntary or eminent domain basis, and whether involving an easement, restriction, fee interest, air rights parcel interest, or any other form of property right).